SUPREME COURT FILED

S246490

MAY 1 4 2018

IN THE

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

JAMES A. NOEL

PLAINTIFF, APPELLANT, AND PETITIONER,

 \mathbf{V} .

THRIFTY PAYLESS, INC.

DEFENDANT AND RESPONDENT

Review of a decision of the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Four Case No.: A143026

Marin County Superior Court Case No. CIV 1304712

Opening Brief on the Merits

Peter Roldan Cal. Bar. No. 263275 EMERGENT LLP 535 Mission Street, 14th Floor San Francisco CA 94105 Ph: 415-894-9284

Fax: 415-276-8929 peter@emergent.law Leslie Brueckner
Cal. Bar No. 140968
PUBLIC JUSTICE, P.C.
475 14th Street, Ste. 610
Oakland CA 94612
Ph. 510-622-8205

ISSUE PRESENTED

"Must a plaintiff seeking class certification under Code of Civil Procedure section 382 or the Consumer Legal Remedies Act ("CLRA") demonstrate records exist permitting the identification of absent class members?"

INTRODUCTION

This is an archetypal consumer class action involving a product purchased at retail locations by thousands of California consumers. Because the class was defined using "common characteristics sufficient to allow a member of that group to identify himself as having a right to recover based on the description," *Aguirre v. Amscam Holdings, Inc.* (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 1290, 1300 [citation omitted], the trial court should have had no trouble certifying the class as ascertainable.

No such luck. When the named plaintiff moved to certify the class, the trial court found the proposed class not ascertainable because he had presented "no evidence" to establish "what method or methods will be utilized to identify the class members, what records are available … how those records would be obtained, what those records will show, and how burdensome their production would be...." (App. 4.)¹ The First District affirmed, concluding that the proposed class was not ascertainable because plaintiff "submitted no evidence that the class members could readily be

¹ Citations to "App." are to the Exhibit to the Petition, which contains the panel's decision.

identified—or identified at all—using [defendant's] records." (App 10.)

This ruling is wrong as a matter of law and directly contrary to longstanding public policy of this state. The most basic legal flaw in the lower court's approach is that it confuses ascertainability with identifiability. In its seminal ruling in *Daar v. Yellow Cab Co* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 695, this Court specifically rejected the notion that ascertainability requires "identifying the individual members of such class as a prerequisite to a class suit." (*Id.* at p. 706.) In the wake of *Daar*, numerous California appellate courts have held that ascertainability merely requires a class definition to be sufficiently clear and objective to allow class members to self-identify as members of the class for purposes of obtaining an ultimate recovery. (*See, e.g., Aguirre, supra,* 234 Cal.App.4th at p. 1300 [citing cases].)

The lower court rejected this longstanding formulation of the ascertainability standard in favor of the First District's holding, in an employment class action, that a class is not ascertainable "where the proposed class contains ... members who have no recorded relationship with the defendant." (See App. 10 -11 [applying Sotelo v. Medianews Group, Inc. (2012) 207 Cal.App.4th 639, 649].) Sotelo was not a consumer case, has been disavowed by three other appellate districts, and utilized an approach to ascertainability that has been rejected by five federal courts of appeals in the past three years (including the Ninth Circuit). Yet the lower court looked to

Sotelo as a basis for rejecting ascertainability here—and, in so doing, embraced a rule that would make it impossible to certify many class actions, particularly in the consumer context.

Not only is this ruling offensive to basic legal principles underlying class actions, it runs directly contrary to the well-established public policy of this state. Consumer class actions are an "essential tool for the protection of consumers against exploitative business practices." (*State of California v. Levi Strauss & Co.* (1986) 41 Cal.3d 460, 471 [citing *Vasquez v. Superior Ct.* (1971) 4 Cal.3d 800, 807-809]. *See also Richmond v. Dart Indus., Inc.* (1981) 29 Cal.3d 462, 473 [California "has a public policy which encourages the use of the class action device ..."].) Almost 50 years ago, legal commentators urging the utility of the class action to vindicate the rights of stockholders made the following incisive observation:

Modern society seems increasingly to expose men to ... group injuries for which individually they are in a poor position to seek legal redress, either because they do not know enough or because such redress is disproportionately expensive. If each is left to assert his rights alone if and when he can, there will at best be a random and fragmentary enforcement, if there is any at all. This result is not only unfortunate in the particular case, but it will operate seriously to impair the deterrent effect of the sanctions which underlie much contemporary law. The problem of fashioning an effective and inclusive group remedy is thus a major one.

(*Vasquez*, *supra*, 4 Cal. 3d at p. 807 [quoting Kalven and Rosenfeld, *Function of Class Suit* (1941) 8 U. Chi. Rev. 684, 686].) In many instances, including this case, "[a]bsent a class suit, a wrong-doing defendant [will] retain the benefits of its wrongs." (*Id.* at 810.)

This case involves exactly the sort of wrongdoing that the class action device was designed to address. The plaintiff here purchased an inflatable backyard pool at a store owned by defendant Thrifty Payless Inc. ("Rite Aid") that turned out to be one-half the size depicted on the product's packaging. He brought suit seeking restitution under this state's consumer protection laws on behalf of himself and a class of similar purchasers alleging false advertising and misrepresentation. The class was defined in clear, objective terms that would have made it easy for class members to identify themselves as entitled to relief. Yet the lower court threw it out on the ground that the plaintiff failed to show a means of identifying the class members—an ascertainability standard that makes class actions like all but impossible.

If Rite Aid cannot be held accountable in a class action for its deceptive conduct and false advertising, then it will not be held accountable at all. A rule in Rite Aid's favor would send a clear signal to corporations throughout America that California consumers are fair game for unlawful business practices. This Court should reject that outcome and reverse the decision below.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. The Legal Landscape

This case involves three of California's most important consumer protection laws: the Consumer Legal Remedies Act ("CLRA") (California Civil Code §§ 1750 et seq), the Unfair Competition Law ("UCL") (Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq.), and the False Advertising Law ("FAL") (id. §§ 17500 et seq.).

The CLRA protects consumers against deceptive business practices in the sale of goods and prohibits a seller from representing that goods have characteristics they do not possess. (Civ. Code, § 1770, subds. (a)(4)–(a)(5) & (a)(7).) The UCL prohibits acts of unfair competition, defined as "any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice...." (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200.) The FAL is equally comprehensive within the smaller and narrower field of false advertising. (*Id.* § 17500; *see Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 320.)

Two class action statutes are at issue here. The first, more widely operative statute is Code of Civil Procedure ("CCP") section 382, which governs class actions generally, including actions under the UCL and FAL. That statute provides:

when the question is one of common or general interest, of many persons, or when the parties are numerous, and it is impracticable to bring them all before the court, one or more may sue or defend for the benefit of all. As interpreted by this Court, there are two requirements for class certification under CCP section 382: "(1) There must be an ascertainable class; and (2) there must be a well-defined community of interest in the question of law and fact involved affecting the parties to be represented." (*Daar*, *supra*, 67 Cal. 2d at p. 704 [citations omitted]; *Richmond*, *supra*, 29 Cal.3d at p. 470.)

The community of interest requirement involves three factors: (1) predominant common questions of law or fact; (2) class representatives with claims or defenses typical of the class; and (3) class representatives who can adequately represent the class. (See Linder v. Thrifty Oil Co. (2000) 23 Cal.4th 429, 435; Richmond, supra, 29 Cal.3d at p. 470.)

Furthermore, the CLRA contains its own provision for class actions, similar in many respects to those under CCP section 382. (See Civil Service Employees Ins. Co. v. Superior Ct. (1978) 22 Cal.3d 362, 376, fn.7; Vasquez, supra, 4 Cal.3d at p. 821.)²

Under the CLRA, a court should certify a class when the following circumstances exist:

(1) It is impracticable to bring all members of the class before the court; (2) The questions of law or fact common to the

² Because CCP section 382 does not establish a procedural framework for class actions, this Court has "looked to the procedures governing class actions under the CLRA and [federal] Rule 23 for guidance on novel certification issues." (*Linder*, *supra*, 23 Cal.4th at p. 437. *See also Civil Service Employees*, *supra*, 22 Cal.3d at p. 376, fn 7.)

class are substantially similar and predominate over the questions affecting the individual members; (3) The claims or defenses of the representative plaintiffs are typical of the claims or defenses of the class; and (4) The representative plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class.

(Civ. Code, § 1781 [b].)

In addition to those requirements, California courts also consider superiority—whether "substantial benefits from certification ... render proceedings as a class superior to the alternatives." (*Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Ct.* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1004, 1021.)

II. Consumer Class Actions in California

"California courts have recognized that the consumer class action is an essential tool for the protection of consumers against exploitative business practices." (*Levi Strauss, supra*, 41 Cal.3d at p. 471. *See also Vasquez, supra*, 4 Cal.3d at pp. 807-809.) By allowing the claims of many individuals to be resolved at the same time, "the class suit both eliminates the possibility of repetitious litigation and provides small claimants with a method of obtaining redress...." (*Richmond, supra*, 29 Cal.3d at p. 469 [citation and quotation omitted].)

Class actions by consumers produce "several salutary byproducts, including a therapeutic effect upon those sellers who indulge in fraudulent practices, aid to legitimate business enterprises by curtailing illegitimate competition, and avoidance to the judicial process of the burden of multiple litigation involving identical claims. The benefit to the parties and the courts would, in many circumstances, be substantial." (*Vasquez*, *supra*, 4 Cal.3d at p. 808.)

This Court quoted much of the above language with approval almost 30 years later in *Linder*, *supra*, 23 Cal.4th at p. 445, and again in *Discover Bank v. Superior Ct.* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 148, 156, abrogated on other grounds by *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion* (2011) 563 U.S. 333. In *Linder*, *supra*, this Court recognized that class actions are crucially important in the consumer context to "prevent a failure of justice in our judicial system." (23 Cal.4th at p. 435 [citations omitted].) Likewise, *Discover Bank*, *supra*, emphasized the "important role of class action remedies in California law..." in terms of vindicating the rights of "large groups of persons" and deterring "unscrupulous wrongdoer[s]." (36 Cal.4th at p. 157 [citations and quotations omitted].)

Because California law and policy favor the fullest and most flexible use of class actions, any doubts as to the propriety of class treatment must be resolved in favor of certification, subject to later modification. (*Richmond*, *supra*, 29 Cal.3d at pp. 473-475; *see also id.* at p. 474 [holding that "[s]ince the judicial system substantially benefits by the efficient use of its resources, class certification should not be denied so long as the absent class members' rights are adequately protected"].)

III. This Lawsuit

On July 4, 2013, the plaintiff in this case—an ordained Presbyterian minister named James A. Noel ("Noel")—purchased an inflatable pool (the "Ready Set Pool") from a Rite Aid store in San Rafael, California, with his bank debit card for \$59.99.3

Noel did not retain the receipt of his purchase, but his bank record lists the Rite Aid purchase. (App. 2.) Noel based his decision to purchase the Ready Set Pool on a photograph on the pool's packaging, which depicted a group of three adults and two children sitting and playing in the pool. (*Id.*) Once Noel inflated and filled his pool, he was in for a shock: the pool was "materially smaller" than the Ready Set Pool shown on the packaging. "The photographs in the record and the briefs show a marked difference in size between the pool as set up by Noel and the photo on the box." (*Id.*)

Noel sent Rite Aid a letter requesting restitution for him and all California purchasers. Although Rite Aid claims an employee attempted to contact Noel and offered to reimburse his purchase, Rite Aid never issued Noel any refund payment, and never offered to reimburse other California purchasers, as Noel had demanded. Accordingly, Noel sued Rite Aid on behalf of himself and all other similarly situated individuals, alleging that Rite Aid violated the CLRA, UCL, and FAL by selling the pool with deceptive advertising

³ Noel passed away in January 2016, and his widow is pursuing this case as his personal representative.

to consumers in its California retail stores. The class was defined as "[a]ll persons who purchased the Ready Set Pool at a Rite Aid store located in California within the four years preceding the date of the filing of this action [i.e., November 18, 2013]." (App. 7.)

When Noel moved to certify the class, the trial court denied his motion on the UCL and FAL causes of action, finding Noel's proposed class was not ascertainable under CCP section 382. The trial court found Noel had presented "no evidence" to establish "what method or methods will be utilized to identify the class members, what records are available, (either from Defendant, the manufacturer, or other entities such as banks or credit institutions), how those records would be obtained, what those records will show, and how burdensome their production would be..." (App. 4.) The court also found "a class action is not superior to numerous individual actions" and "will be no more efficient than individual actions in light of the individual issues [sic] that must be presented on the issue of reliance and damages." (App. 4.)4

IV. The Decision Below

Noel appealed and the First District affirmed the trial court's decision in all respects. (App. 23.) The bulk of the lower court's opinion was devoted to its discussion of the standard to be applied to

⁴ The trial court also denied the class certification motion on the CLRA cause of action on the ground that Noel had not shown the commonality of issues required for the CLRA. (*Id.*) That ruling is not at issue here.

the ascertainability determination. (App. 7-20.) The court of appeal noted that Noel and Rite Aid relied on different standards found in various appellate decisions. Noel advanced the standard adopted by the Second, Third, and Fourth Districts, which provides that a proposed class is ascertainable when it "identifies a group of unnamed plaintiffs by describing a set of common characteristics sufficient to allow a member of that group to identify himself as having a right to recover based on the description." (See Estrada v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc. (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 1, 14 [Second District] [citing Bartold v. Glendale Fed. Bank (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 816, 828 [Fourth District]]. Accord Aguirre, supra, 234 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1299-1300 [Third District].)

Rite Aid, by contrast, contended the proper standard was the three-part test enunciated by the First District's 2012 decision in *Sotelo*, *supra*, 207 Cal.App.4th 639. There, the court held that, in determining whether a class is ascertainable, a trial court must "examine[] the class definition, the size of the class and the means of identifying class members." (*Id.* at p. 648 [citation omitted].) The court in *Soleto* went on to hold that a class is not ascertainable "where the proposed class contains an unknown number of members who have no recorded relationship" with the defendant. (*Id.* at pp. 648-649.)

The lower court, while expressly acknowledging that the standard of *Sotelo* was "more demanding" than the Second District's

in *Estrada* (App. 9), and that its holding "may be contrary to that of [the Third District in] *Aguirre*," (App. 17), applied *Sotelo* and upheld the denial of certification on ascertainability grounds. (App. 17.)

In so ruling, the panel emphasized what it saw as "a serious due process question in certifying the class action." (App. 11.)

Although the court acknowledged that Noel had presented evidence, based on Rite Aid's interrogatory responses, of the total number of pools sold and Rite Aid's gross revenue from same ("\$949,279.34"), it faulted him for failing to offer "a glimmer of insight into who purchased the pools or how one might find that out." (*Ibid.*)

Without that information, in the court's opinion, it would be impossible to give class members "personal notice." (*Ibid.*) Notice by "broadcast email or publication in advertising flyers," the court wrote, would be both "overinclusive and underinclusive" (*ibid.*), and the fact that class members could self-identify based on the class definition "does not address the due process notice issue at all." (*Ibid.*)

While it purported to simply apply *Sotelo*, however, the court of appeal actually went a step further and created a special rule for class actions containing between 20,000 and one million members, requiring that plaintiffs in those cases—but not smaller or larger cases—make a showing that personal notice to class members *is* possible:

The putative class in *Aguirre* numbered about a million. With a class that large,

perhaps assuming personal notice cannot be given was realistic, but with a class size of 20,000 we are not so quick to make that assumption. In fact, it seems to us that in the context of a proposed class of this size or even larger—as in *Aguirre*—the due process concerns implicated by the ascertainability prong of the class certification test are heightened, and as a result, the issue of whether there are feasible means for giving proposed class members notice deserves even greater scrutiny than it does for smaller putative classes....

(*Id.* at pp. 14-15.) "Thus," the panel concluded, "before a trial court certifies a class, the court should be allowed to inquire into the expected manner of notice, including whether class members can be identified for personal notice:

The court may insist upon personal notice, depending on the circumstances. We draw no bright lines, and leave much to the discretion of the trial court, but we prefer this more pragmatic and flexible approach to a blanket rule prohibiting trial courts from considering notice issues altogether at class certification proceedings. (*Id.* at p. 15.)

Applying its newly-minted standard to the instant case, the lower court held that Noel had failed to show "how Rite Aid's records might be mined for evidence of customer identity or cross referenced with other available evidence to obtain the identities of the purchasers of the Ready Set Pool or any means of contacting

them[,]" *id.* at p. 17, and so affirmed the trial court's decision denying certification.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because trial courts are ideally situated to evaluate the efficiencies and practicalities of permitting group action, they are afforded great discretion in granting or denying certification.

(Linder, supra, 23 Cal.4th at p. 435.) However, "an order based upon improper criteria or incorrect assumptions calls for reversal, even though there may be substantial evidence to support the court's order." (Id. at p. 436 [internal quotation marks and citations omitted].)

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT'S RULING THAT THE CLASS COULD NOT BE ASCERTAINED IS CONTRARY TO LONGSTANDING CALIFORNIA AND FEDERAL LAW AND POLICY

The panel's approach, which confuses ascertainability with identifiability, is inconsistent with long-established law from this Court and the public policy underlying that law, notwithstanding some recent appellate confusion regarding ascertainability. The lower court's ascertainability test is also squarely at odds with recent decisions of five federal courts of appeals, including the Ninth Circuit, notwithstanding a short-lived experiment from one federal appellate court that has been largely abandoned. And despite the lower court's protestations about notice, the opinion below is not

supported by either the statutory requirements on notice or by principles of due process. The decision below should be reversed.

A. The Ascertainability Doctrine in California

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