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

This case arose when Plaintiff bought a pool from Rite Aid,
failed to properly inflate it, and was dissatisfied with the size of the
pool. Plaintiff then brought this class action on the basis that the
product packaging was misleading as to the size of the pool. Plaintiff
argues that the supposedly new standard for ascertainability used in
this case would sound the death knell for consumer class actions in
California. Nothing could be further from the truth. The trial court
denied class certification here because Plaintiff failed to present any

evidence as to the means of identifying class members.



A. The Alleged Misrepresentation

This appeal arises from the sale of one “Kids Stuff Ready Set
Pool 8 FT X 25 IN” from a Rite Aid store in San Rafael. (CT at p. 4.)
The pool is sold in a box; the front of which states the dimensions of
the pool in large font: “Kids Stuff READY SET POOL 8 FT x 25 IN.”
(CT at pp. 2, 4.) The diagram on the box also illustrates the length of
the pool as 8 feet and the depth as 25 inches. (CT at p. 2.) Plaintiff
brought the action below on behalf of himself and a putative class of
California consumers who bought the pool at Rite Aid, alleging that
the photograph on the box shows a larger pool than the actual product.

Plaintiff alleges he did not take the stated dimensions into
account when he purchased the pool, and relied solely on the
photograph of the pool on the front of the box. (CT at pp. 179-180.)
Plaintiff purchased the pool using a bank debit card, and expected to
receive a pool large enough for three adults and two children to sit in.
(CT at pp. 168-169; 183; 189-190.)

Plaintiff set the pool up by himself, failing to follow the
instructions to properly inflate and fill the pool to its maximum size.
(CT at p. 175.) In order to have a pool of the stated dimensions, the
pool must be set up on level ground, and care must be taken in filling
the pool. (CT at pp. 175, 219.)

Plaintiff did not follow these instructions, and simply put the
pool in the yard where the ground was flattest, and then filled the pool
completely with water. (CT at pp. 172-173; 177-178). Plaintiff
ignored the instructions informing the consumer not to fill the air ring
completely without first partially filling the pool, smoothing out any

wrinkles in the floor, and only thereafter filling the pool with water.
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(CT atpp. 176, 220-221.) Plaintiff then “discovered” that his pool
was smaller than the pool pictured on the box. (CT at pp. 184-185.)
In fact, a properly set up pool is substantially bigger than the

photo of Plaintiff’s pool, and accommodates 3 adults and two

children. (CT at pp. 135 & 142.)

(CT atp. 142))

When shown the photograph above of a properly set up
exemplar pool, with three adults and two children inside, Plamtiff
readily admitted that the exemplar pool was larger than his pool. (CT
at pp. 192-193 & 226.) More importantly, Plaintiff admitted that the
exemplar pool is what he thought he was getting when he purchased
his pool. (CT at pp. 189-191 & 215.)

Nearly three months after buying his pool, Plaintiff sent Rite
Aid a letter asking for a refund. (CT at p. 163.) Rite Aid Manager

Steven Koch called Plaintiff and left him several voice mail messages



after receiving Plaintiff’s letter to address Plaintiff’s request for a
refund. (CT at pp. 131, 164.) Mr. Koch finally reached Plaintiff,
explained who he was, that he was calling in response to Plaintiff’s
letter, and that he wanted to help Plaintiff return his pool. (CT at 131.)
Plaintiff told Mr. Koch that he was too busy and would call him back.
(Id.) After Plaintiff failed to call back, Mr. Koch attempted to call
Plaintiff back several more times without success. (/d.) Ultimately,
Mr. Koch was unable to process a refund for Plaintiff because he was
non-responsive and failed to accept Rite Aid’s offer to return his pool.
(/d.)

A. Evidence Presented with Plaintiff’s Certification Motion

Plaintiff filed his Complaint on November 18, 2013, asserting
causes of action for violation of the Unfair Competition Law (UCL),
Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200 et seq., violation of the False Advertising
Law (FAL), Bus. & Prof. C'ode, § 17500 et seq., and violation of the
Consumers Legal Remedies Act (CLRA), Civ. Code, § 1750 et seq.
(CT 1)

After written discovery and depositions had been taken,
Plaintiff filed a Motion for Class Certification on May 12, 2014. (CT
at p. 62.) In his class certification motion, Plaintiff sought
certification of a class of all consumers who had purchased a Ready
Set pool from any Rite Aid store in California in the four years prior
to the filing date of this action. (CT at p. 63.) Defendant filed its
Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Class Certification on June 2,
2014. (CT at p. 105.) Plaintiff filed a Reply Brief in Support of
Motion for Class Certification on June 6, 2014. (CT at p. 228.)



In his motion for class certification, Plaintiff submitted his
photograph of an improperly set up, partially inflated pool, a self-
serving declaration about how he was deceived by the product
packaging, and evidence of the number of pools sold by Rite Aid
during the class period (roughly 20,000). (CT at pp. 85; 100-104.)
Beyond the class definition, Plaintiff provided no evidence
whatsoever that the proposed class was ascertainable.

Plaintiff’s entire argument regarding ascertainability consisted
of a single sentence in the middle of a footnote in Plaintiff’s Motion
for Class Certification, in which Plaintiff asserted that “the class is
easily ascertainable because its members are defined by simple and
strict criteria — whether they had purchased a Ready Set Pool from
Rite Aid in California during the limitations period.” (CT at pp.
72:23-24.)3

After seeing Rite Aid’s arguments regarding ascertainability in
its opposition to the class certification motion, Plaintiff refined his
legal argument by admitting in his reply brief that, in addition to a
class definition, an ascertainable class is one whose members “can
reasonably be identified through discovery and records.” (CT at p.
235:7-11.) Despite this admission, Plaintiff did not take any
discovery or introduce any evidence regarding Rite Aid’s records
regarding putative class members.

Furthermore, even though the class certification hearing

occurred over two months after Plaintiff received Rite Aid’s

3 Of the 20,752 8 FT X 25 IN Ready Set pools sold, 2,479 pools were
returned. (CT 84-85.)



opposition, Plaintiff did not conduct any other discovery as to the
means of identifying class members. Plaintiff instead asked the trial
court to assume that Rite Aid maintained records from which class
members could be identified, and attempted to shift the burden to Rite
Aid to prove that it did not have such records. (CT 235:17-21.)

On this appeal, the only “evidence” Plaintiff can point to
regarding ascertainability is Rite Aid’s interrogatory response stating
the number of pools sold in California during the class period.
(Opening Brief on the Merits (“OBM?”) at pp. 13-14; CT at p. 85:3-6.)
There is no evidence in the record regarding a means of identifying
class members.

B. The Trial Court’s Ruling Denying Class Certification

The hearing on Plaintiff’s motion was initially set for June 13,
2014. On June 9, 2014, the parties stipulated to continue the hearing
on Plaintiff’s Motion based on new information raised in Plaintiff’s
Reply Brief. (CT at p. 285.) The Trial Court reset the hearing for
August 22, 2014. The additional briefing did not relate to the
ascertainability of the class.

After extensive oral argument, the Court issued its Decision
denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Class Certification on August 22, 2014.
(CT at pp. 442-447.) In denying Plaintiff’s motion, the Court held
that Plaintiff failed to establish that there was an ascertainable class as
to all three causes of action. (CT at pp. 442-443.) The court also held
that individual issues of reliance predominated over common issues
with respect to Plaintiff’s CLRA claim. (CT at pp. 444-445.) Finally,

the Court found that a class action was »nof a superior or more efficient
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procedure than individual actions. (CT at p. 446.) The trial court
therefore denied Plaintiff’s motion for class certification.
C. The Court of Appeal’s Opinion Affirming Denial of

Class Certification

Plaintiff timely appealed to the Court of Appeal for the First
District. The Court of Appeal issued its opinion affirming the trial
court’s order on December 4, 2017. The Court of Appeal affirmed the
trial court’s ruling that the proposed class was not ascertainable as to
Plaintiff’s Unfair Competition Law and Fair Advertising Law claims,
and affirmed the trial court’s denial of class certification on Plaintiff’s
CLRA claim on the ground that individual issues predominated over
common issues, because the reliance and causation elements of the
CLRA claim were not susceptible to common proof. (Petition for
Review, Exhibit A at page 7.)

Plaintiff has not sought review of the trial court’s determination
that individual issues of reliance and causation predominated with
respect to Plaintiff’s CLRA claim. The trial court’s ruling on that
claim will therefore stand irrespective of this Court’s ruling with

- respect to ascertainability.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court is generally afforded great latitude in granting or
denying class certification. “Because trial courts are ideally situated to
evaluate the efficiencies and practicalities of permitting group action,
they are afforded great discretion in granting or denying certification. .
.. [Accordingly,] a trial court ruling supported by substantial evidence

generally will not be disturbed “unless (1) improper criteria were used
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[citation]; or (2) erroneous legal assumptions were made [citation]’
[citation]. . . .“Any valid pertinent reason stated will be sufficient to
uphold the order.” ” (Linder v. Thrifty Oil Co. (2000) 23 Cal.4th 429,
435-436; see also Lockheed Martin Corp. v. Superior Court (2003) 29
Cal.4th 1096, 1106; Sav-On Drug Stores, Inc. v. Superior Court
(2004) 34 Cal.4th 319, 326-327.)

As this Court more recently stated, the trial court’s decision on
class certification is to be afforded “great deference” and will be
reversed “only for a manifest abuse of discretion. (Fireside Bank v.
Superior Court (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1069, 1089; see also Hamwi v.
Citinational-Buckeye Inv. Co. (1977) 72 Cal.App.3d 462, 472 (“So
long as [the trial] court appiies proper criteria and its action is founded
on a rational basis, its ruling must be upheld”).) This deferential
standard of review is only discarded if the trial court has evaluated
class certification using improper criteria or an incorrect legal
analysis: ‘[A] trial court ruling supported by substantial evidence
generally will not be disturbed “unless (1) improper criteria were used
[citation]; or (2) erroneous legal assumptions were made . ...”"
(Linder, supra, 23 Cal.4th at p. 429; Gattuso v. Harte-Hanks
Shoppers, Inc. (2007) 42 Cal.4th 554, 575-576; Sav-On Drug Stores,
supra, 34 Cal.4th at pp. 326-327.)

The order denying certification in this case is based on the
criteria for the evaluation of a class certification motion, as set forth in
Brinker Restaurant Corporation v. Superior Court (2012) 53 Cal.4th
1004

The party advocating class treatment must demonstrate the
existence of an ascertainable and sufficiently numerous class, a
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well-defined community of interest, and substantial benefits from
certification that render proceeding as a class superior to the

alternatives.
(Id. atp. 1021.)

As set forth below, the trial court’s order denying class
certification applied the correct legal standard and is supported by
substantial evidence. Accordingly, the order should be affirmed.
IV. ARGUMENT

Code of Civil Procedure section 382 governs the certification of

class actions with respect to Plaintiff’s UCL and FAL claims.
Plaintiff’s CLRA claim, however, is subject to its own statutory
framework codified in Civil Code section 1781. As to the CLRA
claim, the trial court denied certification based on both ascertainability
and on the ground that individual issues predominated over common
issues, because the reliance and causation elements of the CLRA
claim were not susceptible to common proof. (CT at pp. 442-445.)
The latter finding was affirmed by the Court of Appeal. (Petition for
Review, Ex. A at pp. 18-20.) Since Plaintiff has not sought review of
that decision, Rite Aid will only address ascertainability under Code
of Civil Procedure section 382 and the related California Rule of

Court, Rule 3.766.*

4 Plaintiff assumes that there is no difference between the
ascertainability standard under Section 382 and the standard under
Section 1781 of the CLRA. (OBM, at pp. 5-7.) While the CLRA is a
source for tackling procedural issues for class actions generally (Civil
Service Employees v. Superior Court (1978) 22 Cal.3d 362, 376, fn.7),
CLRA class actions are subject to conditions that are not applicable to
other class actions. This Court has stated that if a class action filed
after the effective date of the CLRA “alleges conduct described in
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Code of Civil Procedure Section 382 provides: “If the consent
of any one who should have been joined as plaintiff cannot be
obtained, he may be made a defendant, the reason thereof being stated
in the complaint; and when the question is one of a common or
general interest, of many persons, or when the parties are numerous,
and it is impracticable to bring them all before the court, one or more
may sue or defend for the benefit of all." While Section 382 does not
specifically mention “ascertainability,” this Court has long recognized
that, to maintain a class action, the plaintiff must demonstrate the
existence of an ascertainable and sufficiently numerous class, a well-
defined community of interest, and substantial benefits from
certification that render proceeding as a class superior to the
alternatives. (Brinker, supra, 53 Cal. 4th at p. 1021; Daar v. Yellow
Cab Co. (1967) 67 Cal.2d 695, 704.)

A. The Ascertainability Standard

The ascertainability requirement serves two important
functions. First, it insures that the class definition describes a set of
individuals so that “the right of each individual to recover may not be

based on a separate set of facts applicable only to him.” (Vasquez,

section 1770 [of the CLRA], the procedures specified in the act must
be utilized.” (Vasquez, supra, 4 Cal.3d at p. 818.) However, class
actions “may [also] be maintained under other provisions of law.”
(Id.) Unless this Court were to conclude that Plaintiff’s UCL and FAL
claims must be brought under Section 1781 of the CLRA, there is no
occasion here to consider whether the CLRA ascertainability standard
differs from Section 382.
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supra, 4 Cal.3d at p. 809.) > Second, it insures the integrity of the class
action process and provides for a means of identifying class members
“in order to give notice to putative class members as to whom the
judgment in the action will be res judicata.” (Nicodemus v. Saint
Francis Memorial Hospital (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 1200, 1212 (quoting
Hicks v. Kaufman and Broad Home Corp. (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 908,
914); see Aguirre, supra, 234 Cal.App.4™ at p. 1300; Bufil, supra, 162
Cal.App.4th at p. 1206; Aguiar v. Cintas Corp. (2006) 144
Cal.App.4th 121, 135.) To meet these dual purposes, plaintiff must
present evidence at the class certification stage establishing an
objective definition of a numerous group of individuals and a means
of identifying them.

Plaintiff asserts that a class is ascertainable so long as the
plaintiff has articulated a definition that is sufficiently clear to allow
individuals to self-identify based on the class definition. (OBM at p.
2.) This assertion misses the mark. As the Court of Appeal noted in
Sotelo v. Medianews Group, Inc. (2012) 207 Cal.App.4th 639: “The
theoretical ability to self-identify as a member of the class is useless if
one never receives notice of the action.” (Id. at p. 649.)

Plaintiff readily acknowledges the due process concerns

underlying the ascertainability requirement in his Opening Brief

> While ascertainability is related to the requirement that common
issues of law and fact predominate over individual issues, the
concepts are different. (See, e.g., Miller v. Bank of America (2013)
213 Cal.App.4™ 1, 9 (class not ascertainable where class definition
included customers with both lawful and unlawful bank setoffs and
plaintiff “failed to show that any means exist to identify a class of
bank customers who had been subjected to unlawful setoffs”).)
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(OBM at p. 47), but fails to address how the standard he champions
meets those due process concerns. The bald statement that members
of the class can self-identify is clearly insufficient absent some
showing that absent class members will receive notification of the
action, thereby allowing them to opt out or to self-identify later at the
remedial stage.

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